IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,))	
Petitioner,		
v.) CASE NO. 68,489	
KIMBERLY MESTAS,)	
Respondent.)))	

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES A. YOUNG
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

JY/ctc

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Florida Supreme Court on discretionary review of the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal certified by that court to be in conflict with the decisions of other district courts of appeal. In this brief, the parties will be referred to by their proper names or as they stand before this Court. The letter "R" will be used to designate references to the record on appeal. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 2, 1984, an information was filed in the Circuit Court for Hillsborough County charging 17-year old Kimberly Mestas with one count of grand theft in the second degree pursuant to Sections 812.014(2)(b) and 39.04(2)(e)(4) of the Florida Statutes. (R. 2).

A hearing to accept Ms. Mestas' plea of guilty was held before Judge Harry Lee Coe, III on September 18, 1984. (R. 30).

On November 27, 1984, Notice of Appeal was filed. (R. 20).

On January 31, 1986, the Second District Court of Appeal filed an opinion affirming the defendant's placement on probation but remanding to the trial court to strike the condition of probation requiring her to serve two years community control. Mestas v. State, Case No. 84-2602 (Fla. 2nd DCA, January 31, 1986). On motion for rehearing, the Second District Court of Appeal denied rehearing but certified a direct conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision, Louzon v. State, 460 So.2d 551 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), and the First District Court of Appeal decision, Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 1003 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Kimberly Mestas was 17 years old when she was charged with stealing several pieces of jewelry from Ellen Knight on June 6, 1984. (R. 4). An information was filed on August 2, 1984, charging her with grand theft in the second degree. (R. 2).

Ms. Mestas waived arraignment and pled guilty pursuant to a plea agreement. (R. 31, 36). At a hearing on September 18, 1984, it was alleged that, while Ms. Mestas was in the house of an acquaintance, Ellen Knight, and Ms. Knight was taking a shower, Ms. Mestas took some gold jewelry which the State maintained was worth \$881.00. (R. 31). After examining Ms. Mestas under oath regarding her plea, the Court found a sufficient factual basis and accepted her plea. (R. 32 - 34). Adjudication was withheld and a pre-sentence investigation report was ordered. (R. 34).

At the outset of the sentencing hearing held on November 16, 1984, defense counsel reminded the Court that Ms. Mestas pled for probation. (R. 36). The defendant refused to stipulate to the State's assertion that the stolen property was worth \$843.00. (R. 37). A total of 13 points was computed on the defendant's sentencing guidelines scoresheet, translating into a recommendation of any non-state prison sanction. (R. 16 - 17).

The Court then sentenced Ms. Mestas to a five-year term of probation, with the condition that the first two years be served

under community control. Orders to pay \$843.00 in restitution and \$250.00 in court costs were also imposed. (R. 38). The defendant objected to the sentence imposed, stating that it was illegal as it was contrary to the sentencing guidelines as well as the plea agreement which formed the basis for her guilty plea. (R. 39 - 41).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The term "any non-state prison sanction" in sentencing guidelines applies to community control, as community control is not a State prison sanction. Community control is a non-incarcerative alternative to a prison sanction. Thus, community control is a proper sanction to be imposed under sentencing guidelines category of "any non-state prison sanction", and does not constitute a departure therefrom.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER COMMUNITY CONTROL CONSTITUTES A "NON-STATE PRISON SANCTION" WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES RULES.

Respondent entered a plea of guilty to second degree grand theft and was placed on five years probation with the special condition that the first two years be served under community control. Under her sentencing guidelines scoresheet, Respondent was eligible for "any non-state prison sanction." (R. 16); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(f). The Second District held that the community control provision was improper because it placed the defendant in the next higher cell under the guidelines, which recommends a sanction of community control or twelve to thirty months of incarceration. The Court reasoned:

Thus, this sentence was a departure from the recommended range of any non-state prison sanction. Consequently, the court erred in failing to provide written reasons for this departure. (citations omitted).

(Appendix, Exhibit I).

By contrast, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Louzon v. State, 460 So.2d 551 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), held that community control does not encompass incarceration in state prison and therefore is properly classified as a "non-state

prison sanction." This same conclusion was reached by the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), and <u>Davis v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 1003 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). In Mitchell, the Court reasoned:

The terms "any nonstate prison sanction" clearly apply to community control, as community control simply is not a state prison sanction. Community control is defined as a form of intensive, supervised custody in the community, including surveillance on weekends and holidays, administered by officers with restricted caseloads, and, further, defined as an individualized program in which the freedom of an offender is restricted within the community, home, or noninstitutional residential placement and specific sanctions are imposed and enforced. Section 948.001(1), Florida Statutes (1983). Section 948.01(4) states that the court may place an offender in a community control program, if it appears to the court that probation is an unsuitable dispositional alternative to imprisonment. Section 948.10(1) states that community control "shall offer the courts and the Parole and Probation Commission an alternative, community-based method to punish an offender in lieu of incarceration. . ." (emphasis added). Clearly, community control is not to be regarded as incarceration and certainly is not to be regarded as a state prison sanction. Rather, it is apparent to us that community control is a nonprison custodial alternative that was developed by the legislature to alleviate prison overcrowding. See Chapter 83-131 Fla. Laws, section 2. Accordingly, we find and hold that community control is a proper sanction to be imposed under the sentencing guidelines category of "any nonstate prison sanction." (footnote omitted).

463 So.2d at 418.

The Court further stated that the fact that the guidelines specifically listed community control as an alternative to incarceration in the second guidelines cell should not preclude community control from being used as a dispositional alternative under the first guideline cell of "any non-state prison sanction". 463 So.2d at 418, n.2.

The State acknowledges that recent amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, effective July 1, 1986 pending legislative approval reflect a position contrary to that presented herein. The Florida Bar Re: Rules of Criminal Procedure, Case No. 67,703 (Fla. December 19, 1985)[11 FLW 15] (amended committee note (d)(13). However, the State urges this Court to reconsider this issue in light of the First District's reasoning in Mitchell.

As further support, the State contends that requiring clear and convincing reasons for imposing community control when the defendant's presumptive guideline range is "any non-state prison sanction", leads to an illogical result in the application of the guidelines rules. Where a court finds that ordinary probation is inadequate, it may impose, as a condition of probation, a period of incarceration or a split sentence of incarceration followed by probation. Florida Statute 948.01(8); § 948.03(4).

In so doing, the Court has not exceeded the presumptive guideline range. Yet, if we apply the reasoning of the Second District, where a court finds that ordinary probation is inadequate, it must provide clear and convincing reasons before imposing, in conjunction with probation, a period of community control, a sanction less restrictive on personal freedom than incarceration. Such a result is obviously inconsistent with a logical application of the sentencing guidelines.

Accordingly, the State urges this Honorable Court to resolve the conflict between the districts by holding that community control does constitute a "non-state prison sanction" and may be imposed by a trial court without providing clear and convincing reasons where the defendant's sentencing scoresheet places him in the first guidelines cell calling for "any non-state prison sanction".

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to quash the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal and remand the case with directions to affirm the trial court's judgment and sentence.