TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Kimberly Mestas, accepts the statement of the case and facts as presented in the Petitioner's brief, but would add that the Respondent was found to be indigent and the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent her for the purposes of appeal. (R 25)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Kimberly Mestas, whose recommended Guidelines sentence was "any non-State prison sanction," received a five-year term of probation with a condition that she serve a two-year term of community control. Community control may not be imposed as an alternative to a non-State sanction without providing written reasons justifying the departure sentence. The Sentencing Guidelines support this, particularly the most recent amendments thereto, which have already been approved by this Court and will take effect July 1, 1986, subject to legislative approval. The Second District Court of Appeals' decision to strike Ms. Mestas' term of community control must be affirmed based on the plain language of the Sentencing Guidelines, as approved by this Court.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT COMMUNITY CONTROL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A "NON-STATE PRISON SANCTION" WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES REQUIRES THAT THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BE AFFIRMED.

Kimberly Mestas' recommended guidelines sentence was "any non-State prison sanction." (R 16-17) The sentence imposed, two years community control as a condition of five years probation, was clearly improper since the court failed to provide written reasons for imposing community control which is a departure from the category of "non-State prison sanction." The Second District Court of Appeal was correct in its decision to strike that portion of Ms. Mestas' sentence imposing a term of community control.¹

As the State admits, this Court has already decided this issue. The most recent amendments to the sentencing guidelines, approved by this Court, clarify this specific question. A sentence was added to the committee note dealing with the imposition of community control, followed by an explanatory note:

"Community control is not an alternative sanction from the recommended range of any non-State prison sanction unless the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure

1) The sanction of community control was improper for another reason. Since Ms. Mestas was seventeen years old when she was charged with the instant offense, (R 4), the trial court was required to provide written reasons for imposing adult sanctions. Fla. Stat. sec. 39.111(6) (1983). Failure to comply with this statutory requirement, even in the absence of an objection by the defendant, constitutes reversible error. State v. Rhoden, 448 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1984). Although the probationary term may not be subject to reversal as it was imposed pursuant to a plea agreement, Pendarvis v. State, 400 So.2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), the community control was not part of that plea (R 40, 41). The adult sanction of community control must be reversed on this basis.

3.701(d)(11) [articulated reasons for departure] are applied." This revision is intended to clarify the intent of the commission that community control is not to be considered as a non-state prison sanction under the guidelines.

The Florida Bar Re: Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines), 11 F.L.W. 15 (Fla. Dec. 19, 1985). As the State acknowledges, this Court has approved this amendment which, subject to legislative approval, will become law on July 1, 1986. However, the State urges this Court to reconsider its decision. (St's. br. at 8)

The State relies predominantly on Mitchell v. State, 463 So.2d 416 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), which stated, before this Court's approval of the above-mentioned amendment, that community control is encompassed within the definitional category of "any non-State prison sanction."

The logic and reasoning of the Mitchell opinion, including a description of community control and its purposes, is valid up to its final conclusion that the sanction is properly imposed under the "non-State prison sanction" category.

Even if one disregards the amendment clarifying that community control is not to be imposed pursuant to a recommendation of "any non-State prison sanction," the Guidelines' scoresheets for each category of offenses show that community control is the recommended sanction for those defendants whose scores put them in the cell above that recommending "any non-State prison sanction." The sanctions of community control and twelve to thirty months incar-

ceration are listed together in this second cell. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.988. Further, community control is specified by statute as a sanction to be imposed when probation is found to be unsuitable. Fla. Stat. sec. 948.01(4) (1985). This shows clearly that non-State prison sanctions such as probation are to be distinguished from community control.

Notwithstanding committee note (d)(8) to the Guidelines which states that a recommendation of any non-State prison sanction "allows the court the flexibility to impose...any nonincarcerative disposition," the courts are specifically restricted from imposing the particular disposition of community control by committee note (d)(13). Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701, comm. notes (d)(8) and (d)(13). Statutory sections in pari materia should be construed together to give full effect to legislative intent. Ferguson v. State, 377 So.2d 709 (Fla. 1979). It appears that the more specific note (d)(13) is a qualification and clarification of the much more general note (d)(8).

It is incongruous that the Mitchell Court determined that it was "not at liberty to alter or distort the plain meaning of the language in R.Cr.P. 3.701(d)(13)" with regard to the imposition of community control as a condition of probation, but that it felt at liberty to disregard the clear line of demarcation between the first cell of the guidelines, allowing for the imposition of non-State prison sanctions, and the second cell allowing for community control. Mitchell, 463 So.2d at 419. The Mitchell Court's reasoning, that

community control must be a "non-State prison sanction" within the meaning of the Guidelines because it is imposed "in lieu of incarceration," (St's br. at 7), is unconvincing. The more logical conclusion is that, on a continuum of severity of sanction, probation and community control are categorized very differently. The Mitchell Court's description of community control supports this.

In the second part of its argument (St's. br. at 8), the State again ignores the differences inherent in the sentencing alternatives available to the court. Its argument that courts should be allowed to impose a sentence of community control and probation without exceeding the recommended range is faulty on several grounds and misleading in its analogy to the imposition of incarceration as a condition of probation. (St's. br. at 8) First, the State makes no distinction between split sentences of incarceration and probation and sentences of probation containing a condition of incarceration. (St's br. at 8) The State erroneously suggests that a sentence of probation coupled with a term of incarceration of any length may properly be imposed pursuant to the recommended range of "any non-State prison sanction." In fact, a term of no more than 364 days in the county jail may be imposed as a condition of probation. Fla.Stat. sec. 948.03(4) (1985). Imposition of a prison term on someone who scores to "any non-State prison sanction" constitutes a departure and requires written reasons therefor. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701 d.11. The plain meaning of the relevant statutes as well as the authority from several District Courts of Appeal show that the same must be true of community control.

While the State cites Mitchell for its proposition that community control constitutes a non-State prison sanction, the Court also held that community control could not properly be imposed as a condition of probation. Mitchell, 463 So.2d at 419. The court cited to its earlier decision in Williams v. State, 464 So.2d 1218, 1220 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), in which it stated that a sentence of probation with a condition of community control "would result in a mongrelization of the dispositional alternatives of community control and probation. We believe this would be manifestly contrary to the legislative intent as to the proper purpose and application of these alternative dispositions." The holding in Williams was followed by another District Court of Appeal in Chessler v. State, 467 So.2d. 1102 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). The reasoning is based in part on the statutory directive which states that community control may be imposed if "it appears to the court...that probation is an unsuitable dispositional alternative to imprisonment." Fla.Stat. sec. 948.01(4) (1983). Community control is to be considered a more harsh and severe alternative to probation, rather than a condition thereof.

The State's argument also ignores the clear language of the second portion of the recent amendment to the Guidelines' committee note (d)(13). While stating that community control may not be imposed as an alternative to a non-State prison sanction, the amended note also states that a sentence of of community control may be followed by a term of probation. The Florida Bar Re: Rules

of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines), 11 F.L.W. 15 (Fla. Dec. 19, 1985). This type of sentence, like that imposing a prison term followed by probation, would constitute a departure from the first Guidelines cell of "any non-State prison sanction," and is obviously distinguishable from a sentence of probation which includes a condition of community control.

The State's analogy to a probation term which includes a condition of a jail sentence fails to point out that a term of community control, imposed as a condition of probation, would involve considerably more complex factors than a jail term. A defendant receiving a jail term receives credit for all pre-sentence incarceration and can earn gain-time so that his 364-day term is likely to be reduced considerably. Further, a jail term does not subject a defendant to the same risk of revocation as does a term of community control. These differing factors provide a valid basis for the distinction between incarceration and community control as conditions of probation, and support the amendment to the Guidelines, and this Court's approval thereof.

The definition of "any non-State prison sanction," as provided by the Mitchell Court in January, 1985, was available to this Court when it decided in December, 1985 to approve the amendment prohibiting the inclusion of community control in that category. The State urges this Court to resolve the conflict between the District Courts of Appeal on this issue. However, this conflict has already been resolved in favor of the defendant-respondent and she urges

this Court to uphold its approval of the Guidelines amendment and affirm the Second District Court of Appeal's decision that community control is not encompassed in the Guideline's category of "any non-State prison sanction."